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OPINION AND ORDER

BY THE COMMISSION:

[bookmark: _Hlk34643679]Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition are the Exceptions of Wallace McGaughey, Jr. (Mr. McGaughey or the Complainant) filed on July 9, 2019, to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Andrew M. Calvelli, issued on July 1, 2019, in the above-captioned proceeding. [footnoteRef:2]  The Initial Decision dismissed the Formal Complaint (Complaint) filed by the Complainant on November 5, 2018.  Replies to Exceptions were filed by Peoples Natural Gas Company LLC (Peoples or the Company) on August 1, 2019.  On consideration of the pleadings and the record in this proceeding, we shall deny the Complainant’s Exceptions and adopt the Initial Decision, consistent with this Opinion and Order. [2:  	Although the Complainant filed his Exceptions with the Commission’s Secretary’s Bureau on July 9, 2019, the Exceptions did not contain a certificate of service or any other indication that Peoples was served.  Therefore, the Commission’s Secretary’s Bureau served a copy of the Exceptions on Peoples on July 12, 2019.] 


[bookmark: _Hlk21505737]History of Proceeding

[bookmark: _Hlk34402404][bookmark: _Hlk33797752]On November 5, 2018, Mr. McGaughey filed the instant Complaint with the Commission, alleging, inter alia, that Peoples violated certain provisions in Part 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) for failing to maintain and repair a natural gas service line located between the meter and the Company’s natural gas distribution system main line.[footnoteRef:3]  As relief, the Complainant sought reimbursement for expenses associated with the repair of the aforementioned service line.  Complaint at ¶¶ 4-5.  In the Complaint, Mr. McGaughey stated “I fully expect Peoples Gas to reimburse me for those expenses and trouble experienced in attempting to ensure gas service to my home in the coming winter months.  Total expense was $1,900 not counting any legal fees necessary to complete the process.”  Id. at ¶ 5.   [3:  	On November 13, 2018, the Commission served the Complaint on Peoples.] 


On December 6, 2018, Peoples filed an Answer in response to the Complaint, denying the Complainant’s allegations.  Peoples also filed Preliminary Objections to the Complaint on December 6, 2018, stating that the Complainant was improperly seeking monetary damages that the Commission could not legally award.  As a result, Peoples requested that the Complainant’s relief for reimbursement be stricken as an impertinent matter.  Mr. McGaughey did not file a response to the Preliminary Objections.

On January 4, 2019, Mr. McGaughey filed a Reply to Peoples’ Answer.[footnoteRef:4] [4:  	We note that Commission Regulations do not provide for the filing of a Reply to an Answer.  See 52 Pa. Code § 5.62.  Therefore, we shall not address Mr. McGaughey’s Reply to Peoples’ Answer.
] 


By Order dated January 16, 2019, the Preliminary Objections were granted, and the portion of the Complaint seeking monetary damages was stricken.  The remaining portions of Mr. McGaughey’s Complaint, such as whether Peoples was improperly passing on costs to customers that should be borne by Peoples and claims that Peoples has disregarded certain laws and regulations regarding gas service line maintenance and repair obligations, were scheduled to be heard during an Initial Hearing on February 6, 2019.

On February 6, 2019, ALJ Calvelli convened the evidentiary hearing, as scheduled.  The Complainant appeared pro se, testified on his own behalf and presented no other witnesses.  Two exhibits (Complaint Exhibits C-1 and C-2) were admitted on behalf of the Complainant.  Peoples was represented by counsel who presented the testimony of Robert M. Thomas, Manager of Standards and Compliance for Peoples.  Peoples presented nine exhibits (Peoples Exhibits A, B, C, D, F, G, H, I, and J), which were admitted into the record.  A transcript of the proceeding consisting of seventy-five pages was filed on February 11, 2019.  

On April 2, 2019, Peoples filed its Brief and the record was closed.  Mr. McGaughey did not file a brief.
On July 1, 2019, the Commission issued ALJ Calvelli’s Initial Decision, which dismissed the Complaint for failure of the Complainant to meet his burden of proving that Peoples violated a statute, a Commission Order or Regulation, or a Commission-approved Company tariff with regard to the service provided.  I.D. at 1, 8.

As noted, supra, the Complainant filed Exceptions to the Initial Decision on July 9, 2019. [footnoteRef:5]  Peoples filed Replies to Exceptions on August 1, 2019.   [5: 		We note that the format of the Exceptions does not strictly comply with Section 5.533(b) of our Regulations, which requires that each exception be numbered and identify the finding of fact and conclusion of law to which exception is taken, and cite to the relevant pages of the Initial Decision.  52 Pa. Code § 5.533(b).  Nevertheless, we will accept the Exceptions as filed, pursuant to Section 1.2(a) of our Regulations, which mandates that our Regulations be liberally construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action or proceeding to which they are applicable.  52 Pa. Code § 1.2(a).] 

.
Background

The instant Complaint arises from the events that occurred subsequent to the Complainant’s discovery of a gas leak on the service line extending to the Complainant’s service address in October 2018.  Tr. at 7-8.  The section of the line in which the location of the leak was confirmed by Peoples was between the curb valve and the Complainant’s meter.[footnoteRef:6]  Tr. at 38-41.  Since the leakage discovered was minor and did not pose an immediate threat, Peoples notified Mr. McGaughey that, although the gas would remain on, he was responsible for employing a qualified plumber[footnoteRef:7] to repair the leak within ten days because the portion of the service line in which the leakage occurred is customer-owned.  Tr. at 8, 39-40.  Peoples explained that Section 4 of its tariff sets forth that the customer must furnish, be responsible for, and must pay for the repair of customer-owned service line.  Tr. at 43; Peoples Exhibit B.  Mr. McGaughey arranged and paid for the necessary repairs.  Complaint at ¶ 5.  [6:  	During the evidentiary hearing, Peoples witness, Mr. Thomas explained that service lines that connect Peoples’ main to a customer’s meter are divided into two sections by a curb valve.  Mr. Thomas explained that Peoples owns the section of service line between the main line and the curb valve, and the customer owns the section of service line between the valve and meter.  Tr. at 38.  ]  [7:  	Plumbers working on customer-owned service lines must be in compliance with Subpart N – “Qualification of Pipeline Personnel” of the Federal Department of Transportation’s (DOT’s) regulations under 49 C.F.R. Part 192, which prescribes the minimum requirements for operator qualification of individuals performing covered tasks on a pipeline facility (49 C.F.R. § 192.801(a)), as well as alcohol and drug testing standards under 49 C.F.R. § 199.] 


[bookmark: _Hlk34646374][bookmark: _Hlk525722028]Generally, a customer service line extends from the Company’s main line to the meter, which is often located at the exterior of the customer's home.  In other cases, such as this, the meter is located away from the exterior wall of the premises.  In this instance, the Complainant’s meter was located approximately fifty feet from the exterior wall of the premises.  Tr. at 38-41.  Under Peoples’ Tariff, its customers own and maintain the portion of a service line that is beyond Peoples’ point of delivery at their premises.  The point of delivery is designated as the “curbstop or shutoff valve of the service pipes which connects with the Company’s main line.”  See, Rules 4 and 8 of Supplement No. 2 to Gas – Pa. P.U.C. No. 47 (Tariff).  Therefore, the natural gas lines serving the Complainant’s residence can be broken down into the following segments: (1) that portion of the line referred to as the utility-owned service line which extends from the Company’s main line to the curb valve; (2) that portion of the line referred to as the customer-owned service line which extends from the curb valve to the meter; and (3) the customer’s house lines, which are comprised of the exterior house line which extends from the meter to the building foundation and the internal house line which extends from the foundation to the burner tips.  These second and third depictions of the types of natural gas lines that exist within the Company’s service territory, have been owned and maintained historically by the customer.  As discussed, infra, the Complainant challenged the Commission’s long historic practice and rules that, in addition to the fuel line downstream from the meter, the natural gas service line extending from the meter to the curb valve is also owned and maintained by the customer and not the utility.[footnoteRef:8] [8:  	As explained in Peoples’ New Customer Notification Letter, “[a]n exception exists in some situations in the Johnstown and Altoona areas, where the gas company owns and maintains the entire service line.”  Peoples Exh. A.  The Complaint’s service address is located in Indiana, PA and is not included in this exception.] 


[bookmark: _Hlk33510925]Discussion

[bookmark: _Hlk21437904]Legal Standards

As the proponent of a rule or order, the Complainant in this proceeding bears the burden of proof pursuant to Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code (Code).  66 Pa. C.S. § 332(a).  To establish a sufficient case and satisfy the burden of proof, the Complainant, as the party seeking relief, must show that Peoples is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the Complaint.  Patterson v. The Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. P.U.C. 196 (1990).  Such a showing must be by a preponderance of the evidence.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. PUC, 578 A.2d 600 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990), alloc. denied, 602 A.2d 863 (Pa. 1992).  That is, the Complainant’s evidence must be more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by Peoples.  Se-Ling Hosiery, Inc. v. Margulies, 70 A.2d 854 (Pa. 1950).  Additionally, this Commission’s decision must be supported by substantial evidence in the record.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. PUC, 413 A.2d 1037 (Pa. 1980).

Upon the presentation by the Complainant of evidence sufficient to initially satisfy the burden of proof, the burden of going forward with the evidence to rebut the evidence of the Complainant shifts to Peoples.  If the evidence presented by Peoples is of co-equal weight, the Complainant has not satisfied his burden of proof.  The Complainant now has to provide some additional evidence to rebut that of Peoples.  Burleson v. Pa. PUC, 443 A.2d 1373 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1982), aff’d, 461 A.2d 1234 (Pa. 1983).

While the burden of persuasion may shift back and forth during a proceeding, the burden of proof never shifts.  The burden of proof always remains on the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission.  Milkie v. Pa. PUC, 768 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001).  

In the Initial Decision, ALJ Calvelli made ten Findings of Fact and reached five Conclusions of Law.  I.D. at 2-3, 8-9.  The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are incorporated herein by reference and are adopted without comment unless they are either expressly or by necessary implication rejected or modified by this Opinion and Order.

As we proceed in our review of the various positions of the Parties in this proceeding, we are reminded that the Commission is not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the parties.  Consolidated Rail Corp. v. Pa. PUC, 625 A.2d 741 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); also see, generally, University of Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).  Thus, any issue or Exception that we do not specifically address shall be deemed to have been duly considered and denied without further discussion.

[bookmark: _Hlk34381294]Litigated Issues

The central issues in this proceeding pertain to: (1) whether Peoples owns the section of the service line between the curb valve and the meter; and (2) whether Peoples is responsible to repair or replace that section of the service line in the event it fails.  The Complainant contended that Peoples, as the utility, is responsible to operate, maintain and repair/replace the entire service line that extends from the utility’s main line up to a customer’s meter, regardless of whether it is utility- or customer-owned, pursuant to 49 C.F.R. Part 192.  Tr. at 16-18; Complainant Exhs. C-1 and C-2.  Peoples contended that the section of the service line between the curb valve and a customer’s meter is owned by the customer of record (or the person/party owning the underlying real property) and the customer of record is responsible for the maintenance and repair/replacement of said line.  Tr. at 43; Peoples Exh. B; Peoples Brief at 3.

Specifically, in order to support his contention that Peoples is responsible for the maintenance and repair of the gas service line in question, Mr. McGaughey cited to 49 C.F.R § 192.3, which states the following:

Service line means a distribution line that transports gas from a common source of supply to any individual customer, to two adjacent or adjoining residential or small commercial customers, or to multiple residential or small customers served through a meter header or manifold.  A service line ends at the outlet of the customer meter or at the connection to a customer’s piping, whichever is further downstream, or at the connection to customer piping if there is no meter.

[bookmark: _Hlk34394070]Complainant Exh. C-2 (October 31, 2018 letter).

[bookmark: _Hlk34389598]The Complainant also relied heavily on 49 C.F.R. § 192.605 (b)(1) which states:

(b) Maintenance and normal operations.  The manual required by paragraph (a) of this section must include procedures for the following, if applicable, to provide safety during maintenance and operations.

(1) Operating, maintaining, and repairing the pipeline in accordance with each of the requirements of this subpart . . ..

Id. 

The Complainant then cited to 49 C.F.R. § 192.3 which states that “[p]ipeline means all parts of those physical facilities through which gas moves in transportation….”  Id.  Given the above, the Complainant claimed that his service line is part of the Peoples pipeline, and that Peoples is responsible for maintaining and repairing all portions of its pipeline.  Tr. at 16-18; Complainant Exh. C-2 (October 31, 2018 letter).  

Finally, Mr. McGaughey also claimed that he had discussions with employees of the Commission, who advised him that he was correct in his views regarding the gas line in question.  See, Complainant Exh. C-1.[footnoteRef:9] [9:  	Peoples objected to the admission of this document; however, the ALJ admitted it into the record subject to his determination of what weight, if any, would be afforded to the document.  Tr. at 12-14, 28.  ALJ Calvelli ultimately assigned no evidentiary weight to the document in preparation of his recommendation.  I.D. at 8.] 


[bookmark: _Hlk34384534][bookmark: _Hlk34386317]Peoples opposed the Complainant’s allegations that the Company’s policy on customer-owned service lines violates provisions in Part 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  Specifically, as discussed in Peoples’ Brief, Peoples asserted that it is in compliance with all applicable state and federal rules and regulations related to the customer-owned service line in question, including: (1) its Commission-approved Tariff; (2) Section 59.34 of the Commission’s Regulations; 52 Pa. Code § 59.34, (3) Section 1510 of the Code; 66 Pa. C.S. § 1510; and (4) Section 192.16 of the Code of Federal Regulations, 49 CFR § 192.16, which specifically contemplates certain service lines are owned by the customer and not the utility, and maintenance for such lines lies with the customer.  Peoples Brief at 3-7.  

Peoples argued that Section 4 of its Tariff, sets forth that the customer owns, provides and is responsible for the repair of the customer-owned service line.  Tr. at 43; Peoples Exh. B; Peoples Brief at 3.  Peoples explained that Mr. McGaughey was made aware of his responsibilities as the owner of the customer-owned service line via a New Customer Notification Letter that was sent to Mr. McGaughey on February 19, 2014.

Peoples continued by explaining that Section 59.34 of the Commission’s Regulations defines a customer-owned service line as follows:

[T]he term “customer-owned service line” includes that piping serving a residential or commercial customer which is between the main, pipeline or other source of supply and whichever is the more remote of either the meter set assembly, or the wall of the residence or commercial building if the customer owns part of the piping.

[bookmark: _Hlk34386075]Peoples Brief at 4 (citing 52 Pa. Code § 59.34(a)).  In addition to setting forth the definition of a customer-owned service line, Peoples argued that Section 59.34 of the Commission’s Regulations also outlines the utility obligations related to a customer-owned service line.  Peoples explained that should the Company detect a leak on the customer-owned service line, either through a periodically conducted leak survey or, as in this case, upon a gas odor investigation, Section 59.34 of the Commission’s Regulations provides that the “public utility shall require the customer to repair or renew the line, and may shut off gas service until repair or renewal has been effected.”  Peoples Brief at 4 (citing 52 Pa. Code § 59.34(c)).  

Peoples next contended that Section 1510 of the Code sets forth that a utility shall furnish, install, and maintain service lines in accordance with the rules and regulations of the utility’s filed Tariff.  Peoples Brief at 5 (citing 66 Pa. C.S. § 1510).  Peoples argued that it acted lawfully in requiring the Complainant to bear the cost and responsibility of fixing the leak, since the Company’s Commission-approved Tariff requires customer-owned service lines to be repaired and maintained by the customer.  Peoples Brief at 5.  

Lastly, Peoples contended that the Complainant’s interpretation of the various sections of the Code of Federal Regulations is incorrect.  Specifically, Peoples explained that 49 C.F.R. § 192.16 states that a utility operating a gas service line is not responsible to maintain a customer’s buried piping but is instead only required to notify the customer that the utility does not maintain the customer’s buried piping.  Peoples maintained that it is in compliance with the provision of the Code of Federal Regulations by providing notification to Mr. McGaughey of his responsibility related to the customer-owned service line.  Peoples Brief at 5-6.

ALJ’s Initial Decision

[bookmark: _Hlk34635751]In the Initial Decision, ALJ Calvelli, after consideration of the record and the positions of the Parties, dismissed the Complaint of Mr. McGaughey.  I.D. at 1, 8.  ALJ Calvelli concluded that the Complainant failed to carry his burden of proving that Peoples violated a statute or Commission Regulation or Order when it held the Complainant responsible for the maintenance and repair of the service line at issue in this proceeding.  The pertinent reasoning is reprinted below:

…Mr. McGaughey ignores the express language of [49 C.F.R. § 192.605 (b)(1)], which merely requires Peoples to create a manual with procedures for operating, maintaining and repairing the pipeline.  Nowhere does this regulation state that Peoples itself is required to perform the maintenance and repairs; it simply provides that Peoples must create a procedural manual in that regard.

[bookmark: _Hlk18257849][bookmark: _Hlk34390522]*          *          *

…Peoples’ Commission-approved Tariff expressly provides that the customer is responsible for maintaining and repairing customer-owned service lines.  Additionally, Peoples is required by Section 1510 of the Public Utility Code to furnish, install and maintain service lines in accordance with its filed Tariff.  Since Peoples’ filed Tariff requires customer-owned service lines to be repaired and maintained by the customer, Peoples contends that it was acting lawfully in requiring Mr. McGaughey to bear the cost and responsibility of fixing the leak.  Tr. 43; Peoples Exhibit B; Peoples Brief at pp. 3, 5.  Given the evidence in this case, Peoples has demonstrated that the line in question is Mr. McGaughey’s customer-owned service line as that term is defined in Peoples Tariff and related Commission filings.  Id.  Therefore, Mr. McGaughey is responsible for maintaining and repairing the line in question. 

*          *          *

…[T]he language of 49 CFR § 192.16 clearly indicates that a utility is not required to maintain a customer’s buried piping, which remains the responsibility of the customer.  While Mr. McGaughey disagrees with this interpretation, I find his arguments to be without merit, as the language of the regulation is clear and free from doubt.

I.D. at 7.

Exceptions and Reply Exceptions

The Complainant’s Exceptions consist of three typewritten pages, which mainly reiterate the testimony he provided at the hearing, as well as the arguments contained in the Complainant’s October 31, 2018 letter admitted into evidence as part of Complainant Exhibit C-2.  The Complainant’s Exceptions question the ALJ’s reasoning and generally except to the ALJ’s conclusion that the Complainant did not meet his burden of proof of demonstrating by the preponderance of the evidence that ownership and repair/replacement responsibilities pertaining to the service line in question lie with the utility.  
	
The Complainant’s Exceptions begin by disputing the ALJ’s characterization of the segment of pipeline in question as “customer-owned service line.”  Complainant Exc. at 1.  The Complainant asserts that he never indicated that the pipeline in question was customer-owned and no legal documentation has been offered by Peoples or the Commission establishing the Complainant’s ownership of said line.  Id.  

The Complainant’s Exceptions continue by criticizing the ALJ’s understanding of the facts of this proceeding and contends that the ALJ’s recommendation is flawed because it is predicated on an inaccurate interpretation of where the leak occurred and the segment of pipeline in question.  Specifically, the Complainant takes issue with the ALJ’s Finding of Fact Nos. 4 and 5 on page three of the ALJ’s Initial Decision as follows:

[bookmark: _Hlk34634781]4.	In October 2018, Mr. McGaughey detected a gas leak on the gas service line that runs from the meter, located at the edge of the road, to the service address.  Tr. 7, 8.

5.	The line in question is located between the meter, which is placed by and owned by Peoples, and the location where gas supply is recorded, and the exterior wall of the service address.  Tr. 38-41.  

[bookmark: _Hlk34635340]Complainant Exc. at 1 (citing I.D. at 3).  Similarly, the Complainant objects to the ALJ’s summary of Peoples’ claims on page five of his Initial Decision, which describes the line in question as being “located between the meter, which is placed and owned by Peoples and the location where the gas supply is recorded, and the exterior wall of the service address.”  Complainant Exc. at 2 (citing I.D. at 5).  The Complainant asserts that the pipeline segment in question is between the meter and the distribution main upstream of the meter, not on the downstream side of the meter.  Complainant Exc. at 1-2.  

In its Replies to Exceptions, Peoples counters that its witness, Mr. Thomas, explained during the evidentiary hearing that the leak occurred on the customer-owned service line, specifically on the riser section, that is between the curb valve and the meter which is the point of connection between the main-line and the customer-owned service line.  Peoples R. Exc. at 2-5 (citing Tr. at 38-41).  Peoples continues by explaining that the description of the facilities is consistent with the definition of customer-owned service line in Section 59.34 of the Commission’s Regulations which provides the following:  “includes that piping serving a residential or commercial customer which is between the main, pipeline or other source of supply and whichever is the more remote of either the meter set assembly, or the wall of the residence or commercial building if the customer owns part of the piping.”  Peoples R. Exc. at 2, 5 (citing 52 Pa. Code § 59.34).  Peoples maintains that Section 4 of its Tariff establishes that the applicant, which in this case would be Mr. McGaughey at the time he applied for service in 2014, is the owner of the service line in question and is responsible for the maintenance and repair/replacement of said service line.  Peoples R. Exc. at 2.  Furthermore, Peoples reiterates that the Complainant was made aware of his responsibilities concerning the customer-owned service line at issue via a New Customer Notification Letter that was mailed to the Complainant’s service address on February 19, 2014.  Peoples R. Exc. at 2 (citing Peoples Exh. A).  

The Complainant’s Exceptions also take issue with ALJ’s Finding of Fact No. 10 on page three of the ALJ’s Initial Decision, which states that “[t]he Peoples Natural Gas Company LLC Tariff, Section 4, sets forth that the customer owns, provides and is responsible for the repair of the Customer-Owned Service Line.  Tr. 43; Peoples Exhibit B.”  Complainant Exc. at 1 (citing I.D. at 3).  The Complainant argues that this section of the Company’s Tariff is for monetary determinations for Peoples and in no way establishes ownership of pipeline that is governed by Parts 191 and 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  Complainant Exc. at 1.  Additionally, the Complainant continues by arguing that Peoples’ Tariff does not give the Company permission to exempt itself from responsibility for the regulated portions of the pipeline that it operates.  Specifically, the Complainant maintains that nothing in the Company’s Tariff or Section 1510 of the Code can change or diminish the definition of a service line as stated clearly in 49 C.F.R. § 192.3.  Id. at 3.  

In reply, Peoples acknowledges that Parts 191 and 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations are applicable to the operation of the Company’s natural gas distribution system.  However, Peoples contends that the Complainant’s interpretations are inaccurate, and asserts that the ALJ properly explained that the Tariff provision presented in this case discusses the responsibilities for the placement, maintenance and ongoing use of the various facilities necessary to connect customers’ premises to the Company’s distribution system, demonstrating that they are the legal owners of the gas service line on their property.  Peoples R. Exc. at 4-5.  Furthermore, Peoples reiterated that, contrary to the Complainant’s argument, Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations does not require the utility to repair/replace the customer-owned service line in question in this proceeding, and submits that the DOT specifically noted, during a proposed rulemaking regarding Section 192.16 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations, that some customers, in fact, own the portion of a service line on private property between a distribution main and customer meter.  Peoples R. Exc. at 8.  

Next, the Complainant objects to the ALJ’s interpretation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.605 (b)(1) that it “merely requires Peoples to create a manual with procedures for operating, maintaining and repairing the pipeline,” and does not require Peoples to perform the maintenance and repairs, but “simply provides that Peoples must create a procedural manual in that regard.”  Complainant Exc. at 2 (citing I.D. at 7).  The Complainant argues that the ALJ’s interpretation allows for pipeline operators to “simply create Operations, Maintenance and Repair Manuals for the operations, maintenance and repair of their regulated pipelines, but have no obligation to actually perform the maintenance or repairs of their pipeline facilities.”  Complainant Exc. at 2.  

In Replies, Peoples asserts that the ALJ properly explained the regulation and that the Complainant’s claims are speculative, not founded in any stated facts and without merit.  Peoples R. Exc. at 6. 

Lastly, the Complainant’s Exceptions argue that by requiring customers to be responsible for any needed repair and/or replacement of service lines upstream of the meter results in safety issues, and therefore, requests that Peoples and any other local gas distribution company (LDC) under the Commission’s jurisdiction be ordered to and enforced on to operate, maintain and repair its service lines as defined in Parts 191 and 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  Complainant Exc. at 3.  

In reply, Peoples asserts that, in order to ensure safety is maintained, it “complies with Commonwealth of Pennsylvania laws and regulations as well as Federal laws and regulations in conducting service line inspections, responding to leak and other gas facility related concerns and requiring the certification of a qualified plumber, as well as pressure-testing, before restoring natural gas to a repaired or replaced customer-owned service line.”  Peoples R. Exc. at 9.  Furthermore, Peoples notes that the Complainant cannot seek a resolution by the Commission which would modify a statute or Commission Regulation, as such modifications would require either a legislative action or Rulemaking proceeding, nor can the Complainant seek a resolution that would bind non-parties, such as other operators or distribution pipeline systems in Pennsylvania.  Id.

Disposition

Upon review, we shall grant the Exceptions, in part, and deny them, in part.  
Preliminarily, we shall discuss the Complainant’s challenge to Finding of Fact Nos. 4 and 5, as well as the ALJ’s summary of Peoples’ claims on page five of his Initial Decision, which describes the section of the service line in question as being on the downstream side of the meter, between the meter and the exterior wall of the Complainant’s premises.  After review of the record, we agree with the Complainant that in these instances the ALJ has mischaracterized the location of the service line in question.  As such, we shall grant the Exception in part as to this argument and modify Finding of Fact Nos. 4 and 5 on page three of the ALJ’s Initial Decision to read as follows:

4.	In October 2018, Mr. McGaughey detected a gas leak on the section of gas service line extending from the lock valve[footnoteRef:10] to the meter.  Tr. 7, 8. [10:  	Throughout the proceeding on this matter the terms “lock valve,” “curb box,” “curb stop,” and “curb valve” have been used interchangeably.  ] 


5.	The line in question is located between the curb valve and the meter, which is placed by and owned by Peoples and the location where gas supply is recorded.  Tr. 38-41.  

Notwithstanding our modification of these Findings of Facts, we are of the opinion that the error contained in these Finding of Facts cannot form the basis for overturning the ALJ’s conclusion in his Initial Decision that the Complainant failed to meet his burden of proving that Peoples violated the Code, Commission Regulation or Order when it held the Complainant responsible for the repair of the service line at issue in this proceeding.

[bookmark: _Hlk34382849]The Complainant is correct in his assertion that federal and state pipeline safety regulations are applicable to all service lines.  However, under Pennsylvania law, there is a distinction between service lines owned by the Company and customer-owned service lines.  The legal distinction between utility-owned and customer-owned facilities is reflected in Section 1510 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1510.  There are also separate definitions for “Customer’s service line” and “Service line” in the definitions section of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 102.  The last sentence of Section 1510 states that “[m]aintenance of service lines shall be the responsibility of the owner of the service line.”  66 Pa. C.S. § 1510.  Thus, the legal distinction between customer-owned and utility-owned service lines is in place to establish who is responsible for maintenance.

We agree with the ALJ that the provisions of Peoples’ Commission-approved Tariff, as well as the issuance of Peoples’ New Customer Notification Letter on the Complainant, provide the legal documentation to establish that the Complainant is the owner of the gas service line in question in this proceeding, and that he is responsible for the repair and/or replacement of that section of the service line.  It is well established that the provisions of a Commission-approved tariff have the force and effect of law and are binding on both the utility and its customers.  Pennsylvania Electric Co. v. Pa. P.U.C., 663 A.2d 281 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1995).  In addition, tariff provisions that have been approved by the Commission are prima facie reasonable.  Lynch v. Pa. P.U.C., 594 A.2d 816 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1991), alloc. denied, 605 A.2d 335 (Pa. 1992).

Furthermore, Section 1510 of the Code provides as follows:

§ 1510.	Ownership and maintenance of natural and artificial gas service lines

When connecting the premises of the customer with the gas utility distribution mains, the public utility shall furnish, install and maintain the service line or connection according to the rules and regulations of the filed tariff.  A public utility shall not be authorized or required to acquire or assume ownership of any customer’s service line.  A public utility shall not be authorized or required to acquire or assume ownership of any pipe or appurtenances installed after the effective date of this section between its main and the meter unless the utility would have been authorized or required to do so according to the rules and regulations of its filed tariff if the pipe or appurtenances had been installed on or before the effective date of this section.  Maintenance of service lines shall be the responsibility of the owner of the service line.

66 Pa. C.S. § 1510.  Thus, it is clear that the service line located between the curb valve and the meter is a customer-owned service line.  

[bookmark: _Hlk34405854][bookmark: _Hlk34468583]We acknowledge that Section 192.16 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations pertains to the portion of the underground piping downstream of Peoples’ meters, or “customer buried piping,” which, similar to the service line in question in this proceeding, is owned by the customer.  However, customer buried piping is distinct in that it is not regulated by Part 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations, as are service lines, both customer- and utility-owned, and are consequently not required to be maintained[footnoteRef:11] by the utility.  Therefore, 49 C.F.R. § 192.16 requires LDCs, such as Peoples, to notify owners of their obligation to safely maintain customer buried piping which, as indicated, is not maintained by the Company.  We find that Peoples’ New Customer Notification Letter, admitted into the record as Peoples Exhibit A, meets this federal requirement.  Specifically, Peoples’ New Customer Notification Letter states “[y]ou are responsible to maintain (which includes periodic inspection for leakage and corrosion) your piping, both internal and external, buried or exposed.  If you do not maintain the buried piping, it may be subject to the potential hazards of corrosion and leakage.”  Peoples Exh. A.  [11:  	Under 49 C.F.R. § 192.16, “‘maintain’ means monitor for corrosion according to § 192.465 if the customer’s buried piping is metallic, survey for leaks according to § 192.723, and if an unsafe condition is found, shut off the flow of gas, advise the customer of the need to repair the unsafe condition, or repair the unsafe condition.”] 


Additionally, we note that, in addition to conducting leak and corrosion surveys on regular intervals on customer- and utility-owned service lines in compliance with Sections 192.465 and 192.723 of the Federal Pipeline Safety Code, the Company indicates that its leakage evaluations also include customer buried piping in instances where the meter is located away from the exterior wall of the premises.  Peoples Exh. A.  Peoples New Customer Notification Letter provides in part:

For your safety, we make periodic leakage evaluations on your service line.  We check from our main line to the meter or to the wall of your house (whichever is further).  

Peoples Exh. A.  This is done in accordance with Section 59.34 of the Commission’s Regulations, which requires the Company to have a plan to survey the customer-owned service line for leakage in conformity with 49 C.F.R. § 192.723.  If such a survey shows leakage in a customer-owned service line, Section 59.34(c) requires the customer to repair or renew the line, and the utility may shut off service until such repair or renewal has been effected.  52 Pa. Code § 59.34(c).  

As previously indicated, customer ownership of jurisdictional facilities can occur in various formats.  The most common example of this is where the customer meter is located at a building and the customer is responsible for installing and repairing the service line on their property.  In this case, the meter is located away from the exterior wall of the premises; however, the Complainant, in addition to owning the buried piping downstream of the meter, is not exempt from the ownership responsibilities applicable to the section of service line upstream of the meter extending to the curb valve.  We concur with the ALJ’s determination that Peoples’ Operations and Maintenance Manual satisfies the requirements of 49 C.F.R. § 192.605(b)(1) by setting forth procedures for operating, maintaining, and repairing the pipeline.  We find that in this instance, regarding the section of service line between the curb valve and the meter, Peoples has followed its Operations and Maintenance Manual and has complied with Section 59.34 of the Commission’s Regulations by inspecting this customer-owned service line, upon a gas odor investigation, and notifying the customer to make the necessary repairs within ten days.  Tr. at 59-60; 52 Pa. Code § 59.34(c).  

Conclusion

Based upon our review of the Exceptions, the Initial Decision, and the record in this proceeding, we shall grant the Complainant’s Exceptions, in part, deny them, in part, and modify the Initial Decision, consistent with this Opinion and Order; THEREFORE,

	IT IS ORDERED:

	1.	That the Exceptions filed by Wallace McGaughey, Jr. on July 9, 2019, to the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Andrew M. Calvelli, issued on July 1, 2019, are granted, in part, and denied, in part, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

2.	That the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Andrew M. Calvelli, issued on July 1, 2019, is adopted, as modified consistent with this Opinion and Order.

3.	That the Formal Complaint filed on November 5, 2018, by Wallace McGaughey Jr. against Peoples Natural Gas Company LLC at Docket No. C-2018-3005956 is dismissed, consistent with this Opinion and Order. 

4.	That the proceeding docketed at C-2018-3005956 be marked closed.

[bookmark: _GoBack][image: ]BY THE COMMISSION,

	


Rosemary Chiavetta
Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  March 26, 2020

ORDER ENTERED:  March 26, 2020
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